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® (1305)
[English]

The Chair (Hon. Marc Garneau (Notre-Dame-de-Grace—
Westmount, Lib.)): Good afternoon, everyone.

I would like to call this meeting to order.

[Translation]

Welcome to the fifth meeting of the Standing Committee on In-
digenous and Northern Affairs.

[English]

We're meeting to continue our study on barriers to indigenous
economic development, and today we have two panels.

On the first panel we have Minister Hajdu, Minister of Indige-
nous Services Canada, and Minister Vandal, Minister of Northern
Affairs.

Supporting the ministers in their appearances today are the Cana-
dian Northern Economic Development Agency, the Department for
Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern Affairs, the Department
of Indigenous Services, the Federal Economic Development Agen-
cy for Northern Ontario and Prairies Economic Development
Canada.

[Translation]

The second panel will consist of Adam Jourdain, deputy execu-
tive director of the Corporation développement économique
Nikanik,

[English]
Dawn Madahbee Leach from the National Indigenous Economic
Development Board and Clint David from the Nunasi Corporation.

[Translation]

I want to ask everyone on site to comply with the health mea-
sures. We're very familiar with them.

[English]

Today interpretation services are available in English, French
and Inuktitut. If interpretation is lost, please inform me immediate-
ly. The “raise hand” feature at the bottom of the screen can be used
at any time if you wish to speak or alert the chair.

For members participating in person, proceed as you usually
would when the whole committee is meeting in person in the com-
mittee room. Before speaking, please wait until I recognize you by

name, and when speaking, please speak slowly and clearly. When
you are not speaking, your mike should be on mute.

I'll remind you that all comments by members should be ad-
dressed through the chair.

[Translation]

Each minister is invited to speak for five minutes. This will be
followed by a round of questions.

[English]

The first round of questions will allow members six minutes
each. The order and the time for questioning for subsequent rounds
will be as follows: Conservative, five minutes; Liberal, five min-
utes; Bloc, two and a half minutes; New Democratic Party, two and
a half minutes; Conservative, five minutes; and Liberal, five min-
utes. If time expires during the round of questioning, we will com-
plete the order.

I would now like to invite Minister Hajdu to start us off.

Hon. Patty Hajdu (Minister of Indigenous Services): Thank
you very much, Mr. Chair and members of the committee. This is
my first appearance before the committee, and I'm honoured to be
here with you.

I'm joining you today from the Robinson-Superior Treaty territo-
ry, specifically Fort William First Nation traditional territory. Of
course, many contributions were made to this area over generations
by Meétis people.

One of this government's highest priorities from the outset has
been to build a renewed relationship with indigenous peoples in
Canada. I'm continuing to build that relationship. I'm prioritizing
equity, truth and self-determination as principles that are integral to
a strong and healthy relationship.

[Translation]

Indigenous Services Canada works collaboratively with first na-
tions, Inuit and Métis partners across the country. Our goal is to en-
sure a consistent, high-quality and distinctions-based approach to
the delivery of services to indigenous communities.
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[English]

At the heart of our work is the steadfast belief in substantive
equality of opportunity and in outcomes. Canada will be stronger
when everyone has a fair chance to succeed, and this includes ad-
vancing self-determination through strong economic growth and
ensuring that business supports are accessible to indigenous peo-
ples.

All communities need a strong economic foundation to grow and
prosper, but we recognize that there are extra barriers to indigenous
economic development. I'll talk about some of those barriers here
today and ways to overcome them because, to work together on so-
lutions, we actually have to understand what the problems are.

What are these barriers? First of all, lack of access to capital is
one of the biggest challenges faced by indigenous businesses and
can prevent indigenous entrepreneurs from starting or growing
businesses.

To improve access to capital, the National Aboriginal Capital
Corporations Association administers the aboriginal entrepreneur-
ship program, which provides about $25 million per year of equity
capital to enable indigenous entrepreneurs to obtain affordable
commercial loans. The aboriginal entrepreneurship program is also
supporting the new $150-million indigenous growth fund. This in-
digenous-led and designed fund is a key economic recovery initia-
tive, which will provide indigenous businesses with a fully inde-
pendent source of capital.

Indigenous businesses continue to experience negative impacts
due to COVID-19 on top of the barriers they already faced before
the pandemic began. While the Canadian Council for Aboriginal
Business reported last week that the situation is improving, many
indigenous businesses continue to have negative impacts.

To fill gaps in the mainstream COVID-19 economic recovery
initiatives, our department has provided indigenous businesses with
targeted supports throughout the pandemic. To date, Indigenous
Services Canada has allocated approximately $890 million in
COVID-19 supports to indigenous businesses. This is on top of its
regular programming to support economic development and other
Government of Canada supports that can be accessed by indigenous
businesses through the COVID-19 economic response plan.

One of its COVID-19 business supports is the indigenous com-
munity business fund, which provides support to eligible first na-
tions, Inuit and Métis businesses whose revenues have been affect-
ed by the pandemic.

In British Columbia, the fund has provided over $2 million of
much-needed emergency support to the St. Eugene Golf Resort &
Casino, which is owned by five first nations and is located in Cran-
brook. This business is a major tourism anchor in the region and
employs over 200 people, including many first nations members.
Support from the fund helped to cover the fixed operating costs as
well as support costs needed to adapt to COVID and to maintain its
assets.

The hotel is now preparing to reopen this spring, and although
the tourism sector is still in recovery, funding from the indigenous

community business fund has helped support this community-
owned business and helped the communities retain jobs.

As I'm also the minister responsible for the Federal Economic
Development Agency for Northern Ontario, it's very important to
me that the regional relief and recovery fund continue to help in-
digenous businesses and organizations mitigate the impacts and re-
cover from the COVID-19 pandemic. FedNor has played a critical
role in providing meaningful support to indigenous clients in their
ongoing planning, community economic development and capaci-
ty-building efforts.

Indigenous Services Canada has also made investments to help
indigenous communities offset own-source revenue losses due to
the pandemic. The own-source revenue and indigenous communi-
ties initiative has helped to partially offset declines in own-source
revenues so that first nations, Inuit and Métis communities can con-
tinue to provide core community programs and important services
to their members.

Our department has also been very active in working to reduce
barriers faced by indigenous businesses when it comes to partici-
pating in federal procurement. In August, 2021 we updated the pro-
curement strategy for indigenous businesses and announced a new
government-wide mandatory procurement target to ensure that a
minimum of 5% of the value of federal contracts are awarded to
businesses owned and led by indigenous individuals.

We will continue to work with indigenous partners to develop a
longer-term transformative approach to indigenous procurement.

[Translation]

Businesses established in the indigenous community may also
face a lack of access to land and proper infrastructure. Indigenous
entrepreneurs may have trouble finding physical space to conduct
their business and accessing business networks. In addition, they
may have unreliable access to electricity and Internet connections.
Lastly, they may face challenges in getting goods to market given
the remoteness and poor or unavailable road infrastructure. These
are complex issues.

Our government is working closely with indigenous people and
organizations across the country to address the root causes of these
barriers and to improve overall economic networks.

® (1315)
[English]
The Chair: Minister, would you wrap up, please?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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We will continue to work together with indigenous communities
to address the inequalities that indigenous entrepreneurs and busi-
nesses face. When indigenous economies and peoples thrive and
flourish, in fact, all of Canada does.

Meegwetch. Marsi. Thank you. Qujannamiik.
The Chair: Thank you, Minister Hajdu.

Minister Vandal, you have five minutes.

Hon. Dan Vandal (Minister of Northern Affairs): Thank you.
It's good to be here.

Tansi. Bonjour.

I'm speaking to you from my constituency office in Saint Boni-
face—Saint Vital in Winnipeg, homeland of the Métis Nation on
Treaty 1 territory.

[Translation]

Thank you for inviting me to appear today to discuss indigenous
economic development.

I'm joined by Paula Isaak, president of the Canadian Northern
Economic Development Agency; Serge Beaudoin, assistant deputy
minister of Northern Affairs; and Mohan Denetto, executive advi-
sor for Prairies Economic Development Canada.

As Minister of Northern Affairs, Minister responsible for Prairies
Economic Development Canada and Minister responsible for the
Canadian Northern Economic Development Agency, I had the op-
portunity to listen to indigenous partners tell me about the barriers
that they face in terms of economic development.

Access to skills development and educational opportunities is of-
ten limited by infrastructure, connectivity, housing, and so on. Our
government continues to make progress in eliminating many of
these barriers. I'd like to provide a few examples.

[English]

Access to high-quality education for young people is critical not
only to individual success, but to local economies and Canada as a
whole. This is an issue that's personal to me from my days as a
Winnipeg city councillor where I led the development of the abo-
riginal youth strategy, which was the first of its kind in Canada, and
as a social worker and youth worker with the Mamaweyatitan Cen-
tre in downtown Winnipeg.

We're making new investments in education in the north. We've
provided funding to construct a new science building at the Yukon
University and to transform Aurora College into a polytech univer-
sity as a well as investing $13 million for the Dechinta Centre for
Research and Learning. I have also announced a task force on post-
secondary education, which will provide recommendations on ways
to close the gaps in education and skills development that exists be-
tween the north and the south.

CanNor has been particularly important across the territories for
indigenous businesses. Over the last three years, CanNor has pro-
vided over 60% of its funding to indigenous recipients. In Nunavut,
CanNor has invested in small-scale fisheries development projects,
working in partnership with the hunters and trappers associations.

The project supports exploratory inshore fisheries research to de-
velop community-owned commercial fisheries in three hamlets.

In the Northwest Territories, we have invested in the Cheetah
Resources Nechalacho rare earth demonstration project, which sup-
ports sustainable resource development in collaboration with the
Det’on Cho corporation, which is the economic arm of the Yel-
lowknives Dene First Nation.

In Yukon, we're supporting a local indigenous-owned company,
Grandma Treesaw's Bannock and catering services, in a one-year
project to export dry bannock mix to the United States.

Our government is working with partners to manage and remedi-
ate northern contaminated sites that will promote employment,
training and business opportunities for indigenous nations and
northerners.

Indigenous businesses in the prairies face unique challenges. We
are delivering investment programs to foster economic growth and
prosperity. The indigenous business development services, IBDS,
provides early-stage support for new and existing indigenous en-
trepreneurs and business organizations.

The Arctic Gateway Group in Manitoba is helping maintain op-
erations of the Hudson Bay Railway located in Churchill, Manito-
ba. Approximately 70% of their employees are indigenous.

Recognizing that there is much to be done, we know that eco-
nomic diversification and innovation are key elements to resilience
and reconciliation. To achieve this, indigenous partners have to be
at the table. This is why we have launched the Arctic and northern
policy framework. Together, we're developing long-term opportuni-
ties to protect the north's rich natural environment, build healthier
communities, respect the rights and interests of indigenous peoples
and support a diversified, sustainable and dynamic economy for the
north and the Arctic.

® (1320)

[Translation]

Once again, thank you for the opportunity to appear before the
committee.

I'll be happy to answer your questions.

Qujannamiik. Merci beaucoup. Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Minister Vandal.

We'll now move on to the first round of questions.
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[English]
Mr. Schmale, you have six minutes.

Mr. Jamie Schmale (Haliburton—Kawartha Lakes—Brock,
CPC): Thank you very much.

Good afternoon, witnesses, and thank you, ministers, for agree-
ing to appear before the committee today on this very important
topic. As we've heard at committee and as you've pointed out in
your remarks, we can never truly achieve reconciliation with in-
digenous people without addressing economic reconciliation.

So let's start there. We've had witnesses in the last little while tell
us more about that in our first study, and how there needs to be a
focus on the indigenous economy, procurement, business program-
ming and access to market.

With that in mind, Minister Hajdu, when we're talking about
business recovery programs and the aboriginal entrepreneurship
program, according to your departmental results report document
released earlier this month, your departmental goal was to increase
indigenous businesses created and/or expanded by a modest 2%. It
was missed by minus 6.92%. I do note that, under the explanation,
the net number of businesses created may still show a decline due
to closures of many indigenous businesses, but it is expected to rise
again as some of these temporary measures are lifted.

With that in mind, Minister, can you tell us when your govern-
ment will finally have a plan in place to end federal mandates and
restrictions so that indigenous businesses can recover and thrive?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Thank you very much.

COVID-19 has undoubtedly placed strains on every community
and in particular businesses, especially businesses that are in often-
times remote and hard-to-access communities. I first of all want to
thank indigenous leaders from across the country for being so re-
sponsive in taking care of their citizens—

Mr. Jamie Schmale: A date, Minister; just a date, Minister.
Thanks.

Hon. Patty Hajdu: It's hard for me to respond without giving
some context, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Go ahead, Minister.
Hon. Patty Hajdu: Thank you.

As part of those extraordinary measures, communities were sup-
ported through the COVID relief fund to be able to act quickly and
swiftly to protect citizens from COVID-19. They did incredible
things all across the country, with different responses.

Of course, that meant that, just like other communities, business-
es struggled. Despite the fact that Indigenous Services Canada pro-
vided significant resources, in the hundreds of millions of dollars,
to indigenous businesses to get them through these tough times,
like other COVID recovery measures, many are still struggling.
We're going to be there for indigenous businesses as they come out
of this very difficult time. As public health measures change and
shift, we'll continue to be there. We'll have the backs of indigenous
business owners across this country for as long as it takes.

Mr. Jamie Schmale: Thank you, Minister. Do you have an ap-
proximate date on when federal mandates might be lifted?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: I will just say this. We have had, for a very
long time, two goals in mind—one, to protect the health of Canadi-
ans and indigenous people, and two, to protect the economy. As the
member opposite knows, you can't have a strong economy if people
are sick with COVID-19.

So it's about balancing those two goals carefully to make sure
that the supports are in place as our economy recovers and as peo-
ple are protected from COVID-19.

Mr. Jamie Schmale: Okay, Minister.

In your departmental report, there were 1,076 newly created or
supported businesses. How many newly created businesses are in-
cluded in that 1,076? How much of the $890 million went to actual
new business creation versus supporting businesses and trying to
keep them afloat?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: I think I'll turn to Deputy Minister Fox to
speak about those specifics.

Ms. Christiane Fox (Deputy Minister, Department of Indige-
nous Services): Thank you very much, Mr. Chair and Minister.

I think what I would say is that, yes, indeed those are the right
numbers in terms of newly created businesses. Maybe for a bit of
context in terms of COVID, 3,658 businesses received some of the
funding for COVID supports. Many of those businesses operated in
the areas of construction or natural resources. A third of those busi-
nesses were majority owned by women.

Those are some of the facts based on the COVID supports that
were provided through the various programs that the department
put in place.

Thank you.

® (1325)

Mr. Jamie Schmale: Thank you.

Another area of concern, Minister, with respect to data, appears
in the results in the percentage of first nations communities where
non-federal government revenues represent 25% or more of total
revenues. Your target of at least 18% is dramatically exceeded by
49%, which is quite the accomplishment, until you read the actual
caveat, which states:

Due to gaps regarding available data and still-evolving impacts of COVID-19; a
random sampling has been issued to generate an estimate
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Given that sampling has been used to generate that estimate and
the difference between this figure and the target.... First of all, I
don't think the results are very clear.

Factoring out that the targets to be achieved in the future of 35%
or 49% were either not met or available, when are we planning to
fix this massive gap, which would then reduce a barrier to indige-
nous economic development?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Maybe I can offer some general comments
and then turn to Deputy Fox for some specifics on that particular
research point.

I will just say that this government is historically investing in da-
ta and research that's indigenous-driven, -owned and -led. That is
an important piece of work. In fact, for far too long, we've been
working with gaps in data that are significant and a lack of invest-
ment in indigenous data that is indigenous-led through the princi-
ples of OCAP. This government has a plan to do that. It had an ex-
tremely aggressive investment in budget 2021 to be able to do that.

Maybe I can turn to Deputy Fox to talk a bit about the specifics
around this particular research point.

The Chair: I'm afraid we won't have time for that. We're at six
minutes.

The second speaker is Mr. McLeod for six minutes.

Mr. Michael McLeod (Northwest Territories, Lib.): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to the two ministers for joining us. I really appreciat-
ed the presentation. It was very informative and interesting, for
sure.

I've been involved in indigenous issues for most of my adult life,
trying to deal with the situation in the community I live in and the
communities across the north when it comes to quality of life. I was
attending tribal council meetings when I was 17 years old. Some of
the issues that we're talking about now are issues that I was talking
about then.

A lot of effort has been made to bring back what was lost. We
now have 14 tables in the Northwest Territories that are talking
about land claims, land tenure, self-governance and compensation.
It's all important stuff and we need to right some of the wrongs that
were happening to us. We've also made a lot of progress on re-
source revenue sharing and on mandatory process participation. It's
all important stuff.

However, we needed some changes to be made. I was really hap-
py to see the new self-government fiscal policy come into play. It
was done in a collaborative approach with indigenous people and
it's a good document.

I wanted to ask the minister if she could tell me how that docu-

ment—they call it the “green book”—covers economic develop-
ment and how that's going to benefit the indigenous people.

Hon. Patty Hajdu: I first want to say that the member is right. [
think our government has been the most intentional of any govern-
ment in terms of steps towards reconciliation, with some of the
highlights that he mentioned, whether it's land claims, self-compen-

sation or the resource revenue-sharing model that is changing eco-
nomic development across the country.

I will turn to Deputy Fox to answer the specifics of that question.

Ms. Christiane Fox: Thank you.

The minister and I were recently in a conversation with one of
the chiefs around what self-determination can mean in terms of
economic growth and employment. When the community in White-
cap, Saskatchewan, did their land code through a self-determination
and self-governance agreement with the federal government, they
moved from 70% unemployment to about 7%.

The opportunity is there with self-governance. We can advance
on some of these economic development opportunities through land
claim agreements and resource revenue sharing, and looking at it
from all aspects of economic development. A number of our pro-
grams try to promote that, but it takes a whole-of-government ap-
proach in order for communities to see economic development.

® (1330)

Mr. Michael McLeod: I have another question, this one for Mr.
Vandal, regarding the abandoned mine program and how that cre-
ates opportunities for indigenous businesses and people and for
skill development.

Minister Vandal, a large part of your ministry is the northern
abandoned mine reclamation program, which I think has
around $2.2 billion allocated in budget 2019 to clean up these sites.

That includes a number of mines. Giant Mine is one of them, and
probably one of the more prominent ones. Last August, you signed
some agreements with the Yellowknives Dene. There are others,
such as the Silver Bear mine and Norman Wells oil fields that are
going to undergo reclamation. There's going to be a lot of reclama-
tion in the Northwest Territories.

Could you perhaps update us on what these types of agreements
you've signed with the Yellowknives Dene will result in? How im-
portant are these types of projects to indigenous businesses and to
northern economic success?

Hon. Dan Vandal: The government has a 10-year, $2.2 billion
program to clean up contaminated and abandoned mines throughout
the north. Significant investments have been made and will contin-
ue to be made. The programs are intended to ensure that the lands
and the waters are remediated and are healthy for future genera-
tions. When the mines are cleaned up, it's incumbent on us to en-
sure that the jobs, the procurement and the benefits of the cleanup
go to indigenous nations in and around the mines and to other lo-
cals who live in the north.
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Over the last couple of years, you and I, and Minister Bennett
who has done a tremendous job on this, have formed a very good
partnership with the Yellowknives Dene for the Giant Mine remedi-
ation. It was really one of the saddest parts of Canadian history,
where the land was mined and the arsenic was simply thrown all
over the land and the water and ingested by indigenous peoples. It's
a very sad part of Canadian history, which was, frankly, ignored for
too long.

We're no longer ignoring it. We're at the tables with the Minister
of Crown-Indigenous Relations: me; you as a local MP; and most
importantly, the Yellowknives Dene. Speaking as one person, one
MP, I won't be satisfied until the Government of Canada issues an
apology to the Yellowknives Dene.

We're working in partnership. There's great local leadership with
you and the Yellowknives Dene. We're going to continue working
with the Minister of Indigenous Services, the Minister of Crown-In-
digenous Relations and the Prime Minister on this very important
program.

The Chair: Thank you, Minister; and thank you, Mr. McLeod.

[Translation]

Ms. Gill, you have six minutes.
Mrs. Mariléne Gill (Manicouagan, BQ): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

First, [ want to thank the ministers for their presentations.
My first question is for Minister Hajdu.

Ms. Hajdu, you said that a key requirement for first nations eco-
nomic development is access to capital. I would add that this has
been the case since 1876.

I want to know whether her government plans to overcome the
barriers to economic development, specifically in terms of legisla-
tive changes.

[English]
Hon. Patty Hajdu: Thank you very much, Madame Gill.

First of all, yes, our government has been very focused on self-
determination, using every tool in the tool box, including legisla-
tion, including equity in funding, including closing gaps in a num-
ber of different ways that have existed for far too long for indige-
nous people.

I am profoundly aware of the importance of this position in not
just our Liberal government's focus on reconciliation, but the Gov-
ernment of Canada's obligations through treaties and other promis-
es made to indigenous people since the point of contact. I feel that
this is our responsibility to honour those commitments and to do
everything in our power to help communities decolonize, for lack
of a better word.

® (1335)
[Translation)

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Everything that you're saying now is very
informative, Minister Hajdu. However, my question was more spe-
cific. You have obligations, of course, but do you have a plan? Are
you willing to make legislative changes?

[English]

Hon. Patty Hajdu: It is a broad question. I'm not sure if the
member means specific.... Obviously, yes, we do. As you know, we
have child welfare legislation that has been passed through this
House. We have proposed co-developed health legislation. There is
legislation that is being contemplated and worked on around polic-
ing. In fact, all of this is with the primary goal—

[Translation]

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Minister Hajdu, I was speaking specifically
about a plan for the future. We could certainly talk about what has
been done in the past, which I imagine will help with first nations
economic development. However, what are the plans for the future?

[English]

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Madam Gill, through the chair, this is in fact
about the future. This is in fact about creating strong and vibrant
communities that have the tools they need to determine for them-
selves according to the promises made to indigenous people by Eu-
ropean settlers so many years ago. Individual communities are
working through a self-determination lens, sometimes in groups,
sometimes individually, to create stronger futures for their children
and their grandchildren through mechanisms that include legisla-
tion that will empower self-determination of critical aspects such as
education, health care and child welfare.

[Translation]

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Thank you, Minister Hajdu. I'm sorry to
keep rushing you, but we have so many questions. We'd love to
take our time, but we can't.

I see that there's no real plan for the legislative agenda. I'll ad-
dress some other topics with you.

For example, you spoke about equity. I wondered whether there
was equity in the assistance provided. It can be financial assistance,
but it can also be in the form of programs or policies. Maybe there
are distinctions among not only first nations communities, but also
Meétis and Inuit communities.

It would be more difficult to talk about equality here. However,
can you tell us whether this assistance is equal, at least, or whether
there are really disparities among the communities? If so, what are
those disparities and why are they there?

[English]

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Mr. Chair, that's a very big question. Of
course there have inequalities in and among indigenous communi-
ties and between non-indigenous and indigenous communities. In
and among indigenous communities, there are a number of factors
that contribute—

[Translation]

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Minister Hajdu, that wasn't my question.
Sorry to interrupt you, but I just want to rephrase it.
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I wasn't talking about disparities between indigenous and non-in-
digenous people. I was referring to disparities among first nations,
Métis and Inuit communities.

[English]

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Mr. Chair, I think I answered that in the first
part of my answer. Yes, there are inequities in and among indige-
nous peoples, and there are a variety of factors related to those in-
equities, including things like how far away someone is from a
metropolitan centre, what kinds of trauma they've experienced,
whether or not communities have been relocated, how they've been
able to interact with—

[Translation]

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Minister Hajdu, I want to know what in-
equities are caused by differences in programs or differences in
funding from the government. Is the government causing these in-
equities among the different communities? At the same time, how
is the government planning to address these inequities?

[English]

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Yes, the government does work to reduce in-
equities. There are formulas that provide funding based on a variety
of metrics, but we also work with communities that are struggling
with self-governance models to support communities in self-deter-
mination, in community healing and moving forward from an eco-
nomic development perspective in a variety of different ways.

The question is a very broad one, Mr. Chair, so it's very difficult
for me to answer in a very granular way, but I would be happy to
spend time with the individual member and get her a briefing, if
she's interested in that kind of work.

[Translation]

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: If you could share some figures regarding
the inequities among the various programs for first nations, Métis
and Inuit groups, that would provide an overview. If I have any fur-
ther questions, I would be happy to contact your office. Thank you
for offering this assistance, Minister Hajdu.

® (1340)
[English]
The Chair: Thank you very much.
[Translation]
Thank you, Ms. Gill.
[English]
We will go on to the next speaker.

Ms. Idlout, you have six minutes.

Ms. Lori Idlout (Nunavut, NDP): Qujannamiik. Thank you so
much.

First of all, I just wanted to thank both the ministers for appear-
ing. My first question to Minister Hajdu, which I'll be asking in
Inuktitut, will be focusing on the statement that you made that a
lack of access to capital is a main barrier to economic development.

[Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

CASMDLL AAALSM CRa DSDPALTCS  AYINMeL.
Cbdi® Aot Acn<sbserla by beDSPCSAHECHNLNC
Cbdd 0a b PLIAC oMo SdNEC. SboSe Acn %A% Jir?
>otb>NLva AL Sbotlnt Crdd DosCPNe
ASSAHECSL AP Je?

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

I see you have many responsibilities. Your department has been ac-
tive in removing barriers to procurement within the Inuit organiza-
tions. Can you describe what these active measures have been and
what problems you have run into?

[English]

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Thank you very much. Through the chair, I
really am looking forward to working with you, MP Idlout. I think
there is a lot we can do together, especially for the people of your
region and with your vast knowledge.

I think you're on to something when you say that procurement is
a real game-changer, and the Government of Canada, as you know,
is a large procurer. Now we have set targets and ambitious targets.
For example, 5% of every department is to be procured from in-
digenous businesses and entrepreneurs. Thirty-two departments go
live, by the way, as of April 1. This 5% target is an annual target. It
is a really exciting initiative because it gives indigenous businesses
and entrepreneurs a very large customer base from which they can
then grow their base.

Maybe I can turn to Deputy Fox to speak a little bit about the
work internally within the Government of Canada, to make sure
that we do reach those targets.

Ms. Christiane Fox: We have a number of programs that are re-
ally targeted at removing those barriers to economic development.
There's the entrepreneurship program. We have a community op-
portunity readiness program, as well as the strategic partnerships
initiative. We have a number of programs, really, with the goal of
increasing economic activity in indigenous communities in a dis-
tinctions-based way.

I would say that the 5% target for the federal government will in-
crease that economic activity by mandating that these government
departments procure their goods and services from indigenous-led
businesses. As Minister Hajdu noted, 32 departments are part of
phase one. As of April 1, 2022, they will be required, and it will be
publicly available information, to procure for their department at
5%. Then, over the next three years, we will onboard other depart-
ments. At the end of that process, all departments will have that
5%, and we should see an increase in opportunity.

Right now, it is a barrier. It is a challenge. Sometimes we want to
hire indigenous businesses, and because they're not on a standing
offer, barriers are created that we just need to remove. I think that
5% will really help us get there and make some progress.
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Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

sdbeal®. ABC  JAASLAML, Pfeot  IDdLSoC
ACSSLALPJC, Crdd DALAC Sbost ALLADNNAvJaLaLC
a oSN 0 0ab®shstrL Jo€. Sdb2al™.

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]
Thank you.

I have a second question. What policies does your department,
indigenous services, have in place to prioritize procurement
through indigenous businesses?

[English]
Hon. Patty Hajdu: Thank you, MP Idlout, through the chair.

This procurement target is the prioritization. It means having, in
black and white, an actual target of a percentage of business that
will be done with indigenous entrepreneurs. Without a target like
that, there can be many commitments made but no way to track
whether or not those commitments are made, especially over the
vastness of the various departments of the federal government.

® (1345)
Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]
LMda. Cea . DPPENKstCS AAAR®DYL,  PAfeo
<DL Cbbb> oL L C?

[[nuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

I understand totally. Do you have any other policies or programs
in place to address this?

[English]
Hon. Patty Hajdu: I'll turn to Deputy Minister Fox to speak.

Ms. Christiane Fox: Another example that I would provide
would be the list of indigenous businesses, which is a directory de-
signed to support indigenous businesses in pursuing business op-
portunities with government. Back in 2018, there were 1,609 busi-
nesses; today there are over 2,400. So, slowly, through this initia-
tive, we are seeing growth. Coupled with the 5% target, we should
be seeing more and more increases.

Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

sdbeal® PDENCSAS, JAASLAMLL  <enpe-le Cbdd
0ab5bPLIAC JEL 5 DPPSeCeDSC...

[[nuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

I have a question for Mr. Vandal.

Indigenous and northern communities—

The Chair: I'm sorry, Ms. Idlout. Your six minutes are up.
Thank you very much.

We will now proceed to the second round, but before I do so I
will remind everybody in the room that if you're sitting beside
somebody you should be two metres from them, and if you are not
speaking, you should be wearing your mask.

We'll now proceed with the second round. The first speaker will
be Mr. Vidal.

Mr. Vidal, you have five minutes.

Mr. Gary Vidal (Desnethé—Missinippi—Churchill River,
CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

1 want to thank the ministers and all their support staff for being
here with us on a Friday afternoon. I get the sacrifice of that.

I want to follow up a little bit on the conversation with Minister
Hajdu.

In your opening comments, you talked about communities need-
ing a strong economic foundation in order to grow and prosper. You
talked about advancing self-determination through strong economic
growth. Yet in the Speech from the Throne, and in the mandate let-
ters of both yourself and Minister Miller, the only reference to any-
thing on the concept of economic growth, or supporting indigenous
people from an economic perspective, was the reference to the abo-
riginal entrepreneurship program. I've had several conversations
with national indigenous organizations, and, frankly, they were
quite concerned about this.

In my vast knowledge of two and half years around the Hill—
that's a joke, by the way—one of the things I learned is that if
things aren't in the mandate letters, if they're not in the Speech from
the Throne, then you start to question the level of priorities.

I'm just curious. Economic reconciliation was really left out of
all of those documents. How much of a priority is this, really, for
the government?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: I'll start, and maybe Mr. Vandal can add.

First of all, yes, it's Friday afternoon, but I think we're all used to
working them now, especially in this time of Zoom. It's nice to see
you as well. And two years is a long time around this place, by the
way, it's dog years.

Even though I obviously hear your point about the specificity of
economic development in my mandate or in another indigenous
portfolio mandate, what I will draw your attention to is that this
mandate of economic development and indigenous self-determina-
tion is actually in all of our mandates. It's in the preamble of all of
the mandates. It's also in the Minister of Public Services and Pro-
curement's mandate, for example. We were just talking about pro-
curement targets. It's in the Minister of Infrastructure and Commu-
nities' mandate. It's in the Minister of Housing and Diversity and
Inclusion's mandate. The focus on indigenous self-determination,
equity and the economic development that comes from that is actu-
ally woven into all of the mandates of the government. The govern-
ment believes this is a whole-of-government approach.
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Mr. Gary Vidal: Sorry, my time is so limited. I don't want to be
rude.

Let's go to the procurement target for a second. That target was
in the mandate letters of the Minister of Indigenous Services in the
past, and it's not in your target. The only place that shows up in the
mandate letters is in the letter of the Minister of Public Services and
Procurement.

We're talking about the things that are going on now, and this
plan. It sounds exciting, to be honest with you. That 5% target is
not a new target; it's been around for some time. What are we cur-
rently achieving? What is the actual percentage of procurement that
is being achieved at this point?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: I'll turn to Minister Vandal in one moment,
because he may want to add something, but I'll say again that a 5%
target is an ambitious target, and it is a reportable target, as the
deputy minister pointed out. There will be a measurement available
for all Canadians to read, in terms of how the government is reach-
ing that target with indigenous people.

® (1350)
Mr. Gary Vidal: What is it now, Minister?
Hon. Dan Vandal: Can I answer?

Mr. Gary Vidal: If you'll be brief, please. I have another really
important question I want to get to.

Where are we at on the 5% target?

Hon. Dan Vandal: Every minister is committed to the procure-
ment process. I'm a member of the indigenous caucus with Mr.
McLeod and Vance Badawey, and we've been pushing the adminis-
tration for a long time. I know that we have significant improve-
ments to make, but our government is committed. Every minister
has reconciliation, and in reconciliation, I believe, is economic—

Mr. Gary Vidal: I'm sorry, Minister. I don't mean to cut you off,
but you're obviously not going to answer my question, and I want
to get my last one in.

We heard from the members of the First Nations Financial Man-
agement Board about the concept of monetization and how that is a
tool that could be used very significantly to increase investments in
the very lacking infrastructure in first nations and other indigenous
communities. That, along with the concept of the first nations in-
frastructure institute, is a concept that's been around for a couple of
years as well, yet we don't seem to be making the progress of using
the leveraging of those own-source revenues.

Can you tell me if there's a specific plan to actually utilize mone-
tization and the first nations infrastructure institute to close the in-
frastructure gap?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Let me say that of the meetings I've been
able to have in these first few months of being the minister, the first
nations management board was one of the most impressive in terms
of the work they're doing with first nations communities to stimu-
late economic development.

Yes, I directed my deputy—I know that she was on this beat be-
fore I was—to be really aggressive in supporting the work of the
first nations management board and accelerating the work.

Perhaps, Deputy Minister Fox, you could speak a little bit about
that.

The Chair: Be very quick, please. We're over the five minutes.

Ms. Christiane Fox: Just on the monetization question, for in-
stance, our first nations and Inuit health branch now has the author-
ities and program terms and conditions that would allow individual
first nations to monetize long-term transfer payments with financial
institutions. That includes with the first nations financial authority.

That's part of how we're trying to make changes on the monetiza-
tion front.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Vidal.

Ms. Atwin, you have five minutes.

Mrs. Jenica Atwin (Fredericton, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to our ministers and their team members for joining
us today.

Il start with you, Minister Vandal. You mentioned the need for
high-quality education. For someone who has a background as a
teacher, that certainly spoke right to my heart. It's something that I
feel has been a bit lacking in our conversations around barriers to
economic development.

I would love it if you could speak a little bit more about the abo-
riginal youth strategy that you were a part of, and maybe more
broadly about the necessity of high-quality education for indige-
nous youth.

Thank you.

Hon. Dan Vandal: We all know it's a universal principle that the
key to a better life is a better education. Unfortunately, for indige-
nous nations and peoples, because of the effects of colonization and
the government policy of beating the Indian out of the person, there
have been horrendous effects that have affected education attain-
ment.

As Minister of Northern Affairs, I know our government is com-
mitted. First, we've invested tens of millions of dollars through
budgets in the past few years. There's been $13 million over five
years for the Dechinta Centre for Research and Learning and $26
million over five years for a new science building at the Yukon
University.
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As important as that, about a year ago, we launched an indepen-
dent task force on improving post-secondary education in the north,
which was part of budget 2019. We have representations from all
territories in the north, including the Arctic, northern Manitoba and,
I believe, northern Ontario. Their goal and their mandate is to do
consultations, talk to the public service, talk to the educators and
really give our government some recommendations on what we
need to do to improve post-secondary education outcomes in the
north. However, it's hard to separate post-secondary from elemen-
tary education, because if you don't have a good base, then you're
not going to have a good post-secondary system, so it's all connect-
ed. In order to have a good base, you need to make sure society is
delivering good social determinants of health.

One thing that's apparent is the use of technology. If this pan-
demic has taught us anything, it is that we need to connect the
country. We have a very ambitious universal broadband fund. We
want to get 100% of Canada connected by 2030, I believe. That
connectivity is so important for education, but also for health, for
long-distance health care, which could be very valuable, and for
commerce and business. That's something that we're depending on
now.

You asked about the aboriginal youth strategy in Winnipeg. That
was quite a few years ago. The main idea was that the city of Win-
nipeg's workforce was aging. We had an aging workforce on this
side, and on the other side we had young indigenous people, the
fastest-growing population in the city of Winnipeg. We needed to
connect the two through mentorships, training programs and co-op-
erative working arrangements, including education systems. I'm a
bit out of the loop now as to where that is, but at the time, it was
something that landed positively. It's something that our country
needs to be doing.

® (1355)
Mrs. Jenica Atwin: Thank you so much.

Mr. Chair, how are we doing for time?
The Chair: You have about 40 seconds.

Mrs. Jenica Atwin: I'll take the opportunity again to thank you
for the information that you shared with us today.

You mentioned specifically exports for pre-packaged bannock,
so I'll give a shout-out to a local entrepreneur here from New
Brunswick. Her business is called Jenna's Nut-Free Dessertery. She
also provides pre-packaged bannock from New Brunswick. She's a
Wolastogey woman, so I wanted to give her a nice shout-out as
well.

Thank you so much for your time today.
The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Atwin.

[Translation]

Ms. Gill, you have two and a half minutes.
Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Minister Hajdu said that COVID-19 has obviously affected in-
digenous businesses. Does she know whether they were affected
differently from non-indigenous businesses and, if so, how?

Does she plan to conduct a differentiated analysis to determine
how to further assist indigenous businesses in times of crisis such
as the current one?

[English]
Hon. Patty Hajdu: Thank you very much.

I think the real difference for indigenous businesses is that often-
times they have a much more fragile financial footprint. That's why
our department invested almost $900 million—correct me if I'm
wrong, Deputy Fox—to support indigenous businesses through
COVID-19.

Just like every other business, we knew that the more businesses
that could be supported through a variety of different public health
measures, the more they would come out strong at the end, and sus-
tain that economic footprint in communities and regions that really
struggle to get those footprints in place to begin with.

For example, one area in which I can say that indigenous people
were maybe overrepresented or, at least, were very significantly im-
pacted was the tourism sector. Many indigenous communities have
a strong tourism aspect to their economic development. Of course,
tourism was significantly impacted through COVID-19.

[Translation]

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Minister Hajdu, do you think that a differ-
entiated analysis would be appropriate?

You said that their economic footprint was more fragile. Howev-
er, I don't think that we would be here if it weren't.

We may need to look for things further down the road to see
where we can strategically and persistently support indigenous
communities and their entrepreneurship.

[English]

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Absolutely, I think the more we understand
the effects of COVID-19 on businesses and on communities the
better, because we'll want to be able to learn from these experiences
and to be able to be even more adaptive should we see a similar
public health threat in the future.

It also gives us a really good insight into the different strengths
and capacities of communities to be able to adjust and adapt, be-
cause there are many success stories of indigenous communities
and businesses, just like non-indigenous businesses, that pivoted
quickly, adapted very quickly and were able to continue operating
in a difficult situation.

® (1400)
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Ms. Gill. Your time is up.
[English]

Ms. Idlout, you have two and a half minutes.

Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]
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Sdreal™®, Co1C JANLLH<q®bDL bIPM DAL,
AP HDLL 4S5 0 5bsShSePLIAC DPD>SPCHDITH>C o ¢
DAL C DA AVILLC, CLa DSAALd <APCh<Oo
<o <NNeo AN < Oo, DSt ALLN
APOALHP<LIDAQ LS. CLA  APOA LW <IN,
AAARLLS  Coa  To'C oMM Aca<SbAvJrlafc
0ab®hHPLIAC @A oSdNU oS, A5 CLbdd  AcniC
SgecbdS e HegC PLeETC bDYRbNMdS Acn ShSANCMC
Hydro Fibre Link-I¢ CASD><L .

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]
Thank you.
I will continue to ask Northern Affairs.

In indigenous and Inuit communities, we rely a lot on diesel fuel
that damages the environment. The cost of everything is going up
while the cost of living is going up and up. I will ask the minister:
How are you... Qikiqtaaluk Corporation or Kivalliq Inuit Associa-
tion when they're working on clean energy. How are you assisting
them?

[English]

Hon. Dan Vandal: I'm sorry, was that a question for me? I had
trouble hearing the translator because it was very low.

Ms. Lori Idlout: Just to save on time, I'll just ask it in English.

Indigenous and northern communities' reliance on diesel fuels
brings poverty and environmental degradation. Diesel prices con-
tinue to rise to the effect of increasing the cost of basic needs.

To what extent has your department engaged indigenous busi-
nesses and service providers like Qikiqtaaluk Corporation or Ki-
valliq Inuit Association's Kivalliq hydro link project?

Hon. Dan Vandal: That's a great question. I can tell you that it's
in our government mandate to be net zero by 2050. That means we
have to get northern communities off diesel. I'm actively engaged
in promoting green energy in the north, and we're directly working
through CanNorth, through the Infrastructure Bank and through
other departments for the Kivalliq hydro-fibre project that would
bring hydro and fibre up to the Kivalliq region from Manitoba.

We've invested tens of millions of dollars to work with the Ki-
valliq corporation, which is Inuit-owned and -led. There's much
work to do, but we're committed to the partnership.

The Chair: Thank you very much. That takes up the time.
There is a bit of a problem here with the translation.

Ms. Idlout, your voice and the voice of the translator at the same
level makes it hard to understand. Perhaps you may be on the
wrong channel. I'm not sure, but we need to look at that. It's hard to
hear the translator.

Thank you very much, Ministers, for your presence today. That
brings us to the end of our first panel. We appreciate your presence
today.

Madam Clerk, should we suspend, or are we ready to move right
away into the second panel?

The Clerk of the Committee (Ms. Vanessa Davies): We could
suspend. We have two of the three panellists ready to go. We have
one panellist who's having a little bit of trouble connecting, so if we
could suspend for a few minutes, that would be great.

The Chair: Okay, we'll suspend for a couple of minutes and let
you know when everybody's online and we can get going.

Thank you.

® (1400) (Pause)

® (1405)

The Chair: Thank you very much, Madam Clerk.

We'll proceed with panel number two.

[Translation]

Our first witness will be Adam Jourdain from the Corporation
développement économique Nikanik.

Mr. Jourdain, you have the floor for five minutes.

Mr. Adam Jourdain (Deputy Executive Director, Corpora-
tion développement économique Nikanik): [Witness spoke in In-
nu as follows:]

Kuei!

Kassinu etashiek. Niminueniten anutshish kashikat tshetshi imi-
an, tshetshi uauitaman ne ka ishpipinitakan shuniat.

[Innu text translated as follows:]

Greetings to all of you.

I am pleased to have the opportunity to speak about economic
growth.

[Translation]

Mr. Chair, committee members and participants, first, I want to
say that I'm speaking to you from the community of Wemotaci on
the ancestral territory of Nitaskinan, whose name means “our land,”
which is the territory of the Atikamekw nation. I'm Innu from the
community of Uashat mak Mani-Utenam.
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I'm delighted to be joining you today to discuss a topic close to
my heart: indigenous economic development. I'm particularly inter-
ested in economic development. I quickly realized, during my ca-
reer, that it's the main tool available to indigenous communities to
ensure our emancipation and improve our living conditions and the
psychosocial situation of our members. Unfortunately, while the
concept of economic development may seem simple and applicable
to all, clearly, for indigenous communities, there's still a long way
to go. For the next while, I'll focus on the topic of this meeting,
which is the barriers to indigenous economic development. That
said, I want to start by showing that economic development is pos-
sible in the communities.

In 2014, when I arrived in Wemotaci, an Atikamekw community
of 2,000 people, to take up the position of executive director of the
Corporation développement économique Nikanik, the situation was
bleak and we were in a deep hole. For example, there had been no
gas in the community for over eight months. The residents had to
get their gas in La Tuque, which was 115 kilometres away. For the
community as a whole—which had no development plan, strategy
or goals—the annual project amount was about $250,000 and the
development budget of $40,000 barely covered my salary. Limited
partnerships were in trouble, unemployment was very high and
there were fewer than 10 private businesses.

It took the election of a new council with a clear vision for eco-
nomic development to start the wheels of progress and to launch
new projects that mainly addressed the basic needs of the commu-
nity. We first installed fibre optics to bring us out of isolation, refur-
bished the gas station to ensure gas supply, and built a business
centre for our entrepreneurs. Most importantly, we developed and
implemented a realistic recovery plan with clear and achievable
goals.

As a result of this plan, I'm proud to say that we turned things
around and helped improve the living conditions of a number of
community members. Today, we're talking about $182 million in
projects, a $300,000 economic development budget, an ever-in-
creasing number of stable jobs, 32 private entrepreneurs and a low-
er unemployment rate. The recovery plan has enabled us to dream
big and prove to everyone that, despite lingering prejudices, we can
carry out major projects.

Since today is mainly about the barriers encountered, I'll list a
few things that, in my experience, hinder economic development in
our communities.

The 10% capital investment needed for any new project in an in-
digenous context is a federal and provincial requirement that
doesn't really take into account the financial capacity of communi-
ties and individuals. In terms of the search for funding from private
institutions, with some exceptions, they're still wary of our organi-
zations.

The administrative burden of the Quebec and Canadian govern-
ments is a real obstacle that compromises the fulfillment of many
opportunities. Workforce training programs aren't adapted to the re-
alities of potential workers. The remoteness of the communities
leads to additional supply costs and inequalities among communi-
ties in terms of access to funding programs and allocated amounts.
Natural resource development is inequitable.

My time is limited to five minutes, which is really too short.
I'd be happy to clarify each barrier during the round of questions.

I'll conclude by reminding you that we, the indigenous people,
have a rich history of trade relations that goes back to well before
the arrival of the first Europeans on our lands. We must reconnect
with our past instincts and build what I'll call the “Indigenous Peo-
ple Inc.” of tomorrow. However, to do so, we must identify and
overcome all the barriers that stand in our way. To this end, govern-
ments, financial institutions, civil society and all other entities in-
volved must become facilitators and real partners. This is in every-
one's interest.

Tshinashkumitin.
® (1410)
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jourdain.
[English]
I'll now pass the microphone to Dawn Madahbee Leach.

You have five minutes, Ms. Leach.

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach (Chairperson, National Indige-
nous Economic Development Board): [Witness spoke in Anishi-
naabemowin and provided the following text:]

Aanii - Biidaabin dezhnikaaz, jijjaak dodem, mnidoo mnising
ndoonjibaa.

[Witness provided the following translation:]

Hello. My name is Sunrise. I come from the Crane clan. My
homeland is Manitoulin Island in the traditional territory of the An-
ishinabek Nation.

[English]

Meegwetch and thank you for allowing me to speak with you to-
day on the barriers to indigenous economic development.

I'm the chair of the National Indigenous Economic Development
Board, which is a ministerial-appointed, non-political organization
mandated to provide advice to the federal government on issues re-
lated to indigenous economic development.

The board was established in 1990 and is comprised of first na-
tions, Inuit and Métis business and community leaders from across
Canada. To help inform your work, I invite you to check our
board's website, which includes our series of national indigenous
economic progress reports. Our next report will be released in
2023.
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I also invite you to review our board's report entitled “Reconcili-
ation: Growing Canada's Economy by $27.7 Billion”, as well as the
2019 OECD report on linking indigenous peoples to regional devel-
opment, and the upcoming national indigenous economic strategy
for Canada. If these reports were implemented, many of the eco-
nomic barriers would be addressed.

All Canadians have become more aware of the truth of Canada's
treatment of the indigenous peoples of this land. While the effects
of colonialism have been devastating to the social, physical and
mental health of our communities, one of its most nefarious objec-
tives was the deliberate exclusion of indigenous peoples from shar-
ing in the wealth of this country.

I cannot stress strongly enough that indigenous populations con-
tinue to face deeply rooted systemic and institutional barriers em-
bedded in the Canadian legal, education, health, governmental and
economic landscape.

For Canada to undo this damage, it must be understood that
achieving reconciliation will not be possible without vibrant indige-
nous economies, characterized by economic self-sufficiency and
socio-economic equality with the rest of Canada.

Studies show over and over again that when indigenous commu-
nities prosper, so do the regions around them. Look at the recent re-
ports outlining the billions in annual indigenous contributions to the
economies of Atlantic Canada, Manitoba and Alberta. If indigenous
peoples had the same education, income and employment levels
and business opportunities as those experienced across Canada, the
GDP would increase by $30 billion to upwards of $100 billion an-
nually.

In addition to the reports already mentioned, the NIEDB is rec-
ommending solutions that can pave the path to economic reconcili-
ation.

One, ensure that the implementation plan for the UN Declaration
on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act is co-developed with in-
digenous people.

Two, formally recognize our jurisdiction and the legal frame-
works we are developing to control and participate in development
in our territories.

Three, support the development of indigenous-led institutions to
help build indigenous economic capacity, share leading practices,
and deliver programs and services. Work is already under way for
institutes for community infrastructure and indigenous business
procurement.

Four, support the network of aboriginal financial institutions with
capital to support the growth and expansion of the indigenous busi-
ness sector, increase employment and provide housing mortgages,
and help alleviate the backlog of indigenous housing that currently
exists.

Five, increase funding for indigenous economic and business de-
velopment to 10% of total federal spending on indigenous peoples,
in part to make up for past funding shortfalls and to recognize the
fact that each dollar spent on indigenous economic development
leverages important community and social benefits and enhances
regional economies across Canada.

Finally, implement the soon-to-be-released national indigenous
economic strategy for Canada, which is a collaborative effort in-
volving more than 20 national indigenous organizations. This strat-
egy is our vision for economic reconciliation and is built upon the
four strategic pathways of people, land, infrastructure and finance.
The strategy includes calls to economic prosperity that speak to all
levels of government, corporate Canada, small businesses, all insti-
tutions across the country and our own people.

® (1415)

In conclusion, you have an opportunity to help remove the im-
pediments to indigenous economic inclusion. In addressing the so-
lutions offered, your work requires addressing the disparities of the
past, a change of mindset, the political will and real financial in-
vestment, which we know will benefit all of Canada.

Meegwetch. Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Ms. Madahbee Leach.

The third speaker will be Mr. Clint Davis, from the Nunasi Cor-
poration.

Mr. Davis, you have five minutes.

Mr. Clint Davis (President and Chief Executive Officer,
Nunasi Corporation): Thank you, Mr. Chair; and thank you, mem-
bers of the committee.

It's a real honour to be here, and certainly in the presence of my
dear friend Dawn Madahbee Leach as well, and Adam. You did a
great job.

I'll begin by giving you a bit of a background on Nunasi Corpo-
ration and then I'll speak to three barriers I see that continue to im-
pede the growth of indigenous business and communities.

In terms of personal background, I am Inuk, Inuit from Labrador
and it's an honour for me to lead Nunasi Corporation, which is a
storied Inuit corporation, over the last two years. Nunasi is a
Nunavut Inuit birthright corporation, owned by two regional Inuit
associations and one Inuit regional development corporation. This
structure ultimately means that Nunasi is owned by all the individu-
al beneficiaries under the Nunavut agreement, one of whom I think
is actually on this committee right now.
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It has a very interesting story. In fact, it's the oldest Inuit devel-
opment corporation in the country. It was started in 1976 by the
Inuit Tapirisat of Canada, now ITK, as a vehicle to ensure Inuit par-
ticipation in the economic opportunity that was expected once Inuit
land claims were resolved. It was involved in a variety of different
business activities from various industries and some of these oper-
ating companies are still around today—in particular, Nunasi's in-
vestment in the medical accommodations that are located in Ot-
tawa, Winnipeg, Edmonton and Yellowknife. These facilities,
known as “largas”, provide culturally appropriate and safe lodging
for those Nunavummiut who require medical treatment in southern
hospitals.

Nunasi today is focused on health services, to build on the suc-
cess of those largas; energy, which includes a focus around the de-
velopment in renewable energy for Nunavut; infrastructure; trans-
portation; and federal procurement.

Now I'll share with you some of my thoughts on some of the bar-
riers. One is access to equity capital. Indigenous and Inuit business
look very different today than even just 20 years ago. The rights
that are crystallized in modern land claim agreements, along with
the recognition of indigenous rights through successful court chal-
lenges, have led to greater engagement of indigenous communities
in development activities on traditional lands.

Phrases such as “the duty to consult” and “free, prior and in-
formed consent” have become common parlance in some indus-
tries. Impact benefit agreements have created significant value for
indigenous communities, including training, development and em-
ployment, along with procurement. Some projects are providing op-
portunities for indigenous communities and development corpora-
tions to actually participate in the ownership of the project or a ma-
jor asset.

Too often, communities just don't have the financial capital to
stand shoulder to shoulder with their partner. Traditional lenders
generally do not provide loans for equity, so the community will
have to either pass on the opportunity or receive support from the
partner or another source at a price that is often considered expen-
sive. I think there's a real opportunity for federal Crown corpora-
tions and other institutions to provide this capital through a loan
mechanism at a reasonable rate. This would enable the community
to participate in the opportunity and benefit from the financial up-
side earlier in the process.

On social procurement, on January 31 of this year, the federal
government announced that Nasittuq, a majority-owned Inuit com-
pany, was successful in winning the contract for the operation and
maintenance of the north warning system. This contract is valued at
nearly $600 million for seven years, and if the extensions are
awarded, the contract has the potential to be $1.3 billion. The Inuit
shareholders of Nasittuq include Nunasi, as well as the regional de-
velopment corporations across Inuit Nunangat. It's great news for
Nunasi and our colleagues, and frankly, it's an example of econom-
ic reconciliation at work.

The federal government has made a commitment of 5% to help
expand indigenous business, which would represent over $1 billion
annually. While the commitment has been made, I strongly encour-
age the government to move quickly towards implementation and

to use the distinctions-based approach to ensure Inuit businesses
benefit.

I would also recommend that the federal government consider
creating incentives for federally regulated companies to develop ro-
bust procurement policies for the benefit of indigenous business. As
we've seen in this country, the more successful procurement pro-
cesses are normally in those companies in the resources sector,
which really makes sense when you consider the nature of their
business, operating in traditional territories.

However, these best practices should extend to other companies
in different industries. Indigenous businesses are diverse, and if
given the opportunity, they will meet the procurement needs of
these companies.

® (1420)

The last thing, Mr. Chair, I want to comment on is the investment
in infrastructure.

In October of 2020, Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated in Nunavut
released the “Nunavut Infrastructure Gap Report”. The report high-
lights deficits in such infrastructure areas as water, housing, broad-
band, reliable energy and so on.

The community needs these basic elements of infrastructure to
create an environment that is conducive to entrepreneurialism and
that can attract investment. There were no cost estimates associated
with the Nunavut report, but the most recent funding announcement
by the federal government of $4.3 billion indigenous community
infrastructure fund, from which Inuit received over $500 million, is
certainly a step in the right direction.

However, a 2016 report by the Canadian Council for Public-Pri-
vate Partnerships identified an infrastructure deficit for first nations
only at $30 billion. Seven years later one can only assume that this
number is also higher.

Just recently the Inuit Tapiriit Kanatami has calculated that it
would take over $3 billion to meet Inuit core housing needs.

So, when you take into account the numbers on housing alone
and you add the infrastructure deficit with the first nations, it's easy
to assume that the infrastructure deficit for indigenous communities
in general is probably closer to $60 billion to $70 billion.

If we want to break down barriers for indigenous economic de-
velopment, we need to ensure that communities have the conditions
that will create a well-functioning economy, and that starts with in-
frastructure.

Thank you for your time today. I look forward to your questions.

Nakurmiik.
The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davis.

We'll now proceed with the first round of questions.

Mrs. Stubbs, you have six minutes.
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Mrs. Shannon Stubbs (Lakeland, CPC): Thank you, Chair.

Let me just say what a pleasure it is to listen to this powerful and
inspiring testimony from our witnesses.

I'm so glad that you have been able to give your time to us today.

I represent a rural riding in northeast Alberta, and I'm very proud
to represent all of the constituents in Lakeland, including nine first
nations and Métis communities, which I work with on a regular ba-
sis to try to figure out real, tangible ways that we can do things ex-
actly like the things we are talking about today. Of course, it won't
surprise you that nearly every community in my region, in that part
of Alberta, has a long history of private sector proponent partner-
ship, partnerships with academic institutions and all levels of gov-
ernment to responsibly develop the resources in that area, primarily
oil and gas and heavy oil, and they are also the leading contractors
and business owners certainly in the service supply area of the in-
dustry throughout the region.

I'm always looking forward to hearing testimony like yours as to
how we can continue to advance on economic reconciliation. I am
inspired by the communities that I represent. They create jobs not
only for their own communities but for people all around their com-
munities throughout the region and throughout the province.

I am seized with many of the challenges that you've talked about.
These are, primarily, access to capital, capacity building in commu-
nities so that they can effectively participate in the regulatory pro-
cess, and the necessity for the Crown to meet their obligations for
two-way dynamic consultation with indigenous communities rather
than just checking it off on a list instead of sending a decision-mak-
er to the table, certainly as the last witness was talking about, to
rapidly meet the basic infrastructure challenges that hold back in-
digenous communities.

Adam, I think you wanted to get into this a little bit more. Maybe
I'll do a two-for-one and then each of you can address these ques-
tions in turn.

I would just love to give you the opportunity to expand in
specifics on two fronts. One is recommendations to deal with the
risk aversion of the Crown or the government, rolls upon rolls of
red-tape barriers that can be reduced, and the other is more specific
recommendations for access to capital.

® (1425)
[Translation]

Mr. Adam Jourdain: I'll first answer your second question.

Tools already exist. The First Nations Financial Management Act
enables us to override the Indian Act, but only financially. In We-
motaci, we decided to adhere to this legislation, which enables us to
obtain capital, but only through the First Nations Financial Authori-
ty. We then have access to cash flow that helps us develop certain
projects, as a result of favourable interest rates. Our most recent in-
terest rate was around 2.3%.

It should be noted that banking or financial institutions are still
reluctant to give us funding, even though we've adhered to this leg-
islation. We must always provide justification, which constitutes a

barrier. However, we have excellent viable projects that meet the
goals of our community.

It's very challenging if the interest rates are close to 7%, 8% or
9% for certain projects. It was already a major barrier to the devel-
opment of communities, especially remote communities such as
Wemotaci.

I hope that I've answered your question.
[English]
Mrs. Shannon Stubbs: Thank you.

1 would invite the other witnesses to comment as well.

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: I'd be happy to speak to your two
questions as well.

It was really great to hear my good friend Harold Calla speak
about the balance that has to be played between the government's
fiduciary responsibility and the fact that there's a lot of risk aver-
sion. One of the things that I feel can help to address that is the path
to supporting the development of indigenous institutions. We need
to be responsible for our own activity and our own actions.

1 really feel strongly that the supports need to be there, as [ men-
tioned in one of our recommendations, to support indigenous-led
institutions and centres of excellence. I think those are really criti-
cal ways to help remove the issues around the government being
worried about the risk of some of the decisions they make. I think
our own people are prepared and we have the capacity now to ad-
dress areas and make those decisions ourselves. I would strongly
support that devolution of programs and services and the resources,
the full amount of resources necessary, to support indigenous insti-
tutions.

I spoke about, and we heard earlier about, the idea of an indige-
nous infrastructure institute. I think that's really critical as well to
addressing the areas of our needs.

In respect to access to capital, I think a couple of things need to
be understood. We have a really great success story in Canada that
other countries don't have, and that's the aboriginal financial institu-
tions. Those institutions should be supported. No other country has
the types of institutions that we have, but they're limited in their ca-
pacity. Most of them can provide loans of only up to $300,000 for
one project. Well, one piece of equipment costs that. You can't even
build a decent building for that amount of money anymore.

So additional capital is really important. We know the success of
these aboriginal financial institutions, which have been able to in-
vest $3.3 billion into the Canadian economy through investing in
indigenous businesses and helping with the start-up of new indige-
nous businesses. We have capacity. We'll need that to address the
whole procurement issue and to address the contracts we're talking
about to reach that 5% procurement target. We need more indige-
nous businesses and to help build them up so they can compete ef-
fectively for a lot of those contracts.

Plus, we need—
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® (1430)
The Chair: Thank you. We have to go to the next speaker.
Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: Okay. Sorry.
The Chair: No problem. Thank you very much.

Next we have Mr. Weiler.

You have six minutes.

Mr. Patrick Weiler (West Vancouver—Sunshine Coast—Sea
to Sky Country, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I'd like to thank all the witnesses for joining our committee meet-
ing today and just for the fascinating testimony already.

First, Ms. Madahbee Leach, just building on what you were men-
tioning before, one of the solutions you identified with regard to the
economic barriers currently in place right now is to formally recog-
nize indigenous jurisdiction and legal frameworks. I was hoping
you could elaborate a little bit more on this point, in particular on
the importance of self-government agreements and what type of
change that would drive for economic reconciliation.

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: I can give you one really good ex-
ample in my own area. The first nations have collaborated to devel-
op a legal framework on aquaculture in our region. For example,
we have indigenous-owned aquaculture operations, but we also
have non-indigenous aquaculture operations. Previously, before we
had this framework, there was no reporting or monitoring provided
to the indigenous communities, who rely on the water resource
around us. By having these legal frameworks in place, we were ac-
tually benefiting from the social licence that we offered to those op-
erations in our area.

One of the things this framework will do is to have the first na-
tions that are impacted in any developments, including our own
aquaculture businesses, issue the licences. We've been working
very closely with the first nations, as well as the Province of On-
tario and Fisheries and Oceans Canada, to have this legal frame-
work recognized. I'll tell you that it's very complementary to exist-
ing legal requirements at the provincial and federal levels. It's really
helping to include indigenous people in activating our jurisdiction
and our authorities in this area.

Mr. Patrick Weiler: That's a very fascinating point.

One of the other items you mentioned is co-developing the action
plan on implementing UNDRIP. I'm curious how you see those two
aspects kind of fitting together, where you can have multiple orders
of government being able to partner on issues just like that.

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: I think it's a co-operative ap-
proach that we're looking at. When we look at co-developing the
implementation plan for the United Nations Declaration on the
Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act, it's really important that we be
involved in that.

There are 13 references to economic development in the declara-
tion, but there's nothing really specific on it, so the national indige-
nous organizations have talked with each other about how we can
activate and unlock the potential of indigenous economic develop-
ment by helping with the co-development and making sure that

we're included in the Canadian economy at the level that we should
be. I think that's really important and critical to moving forward.

We have a lot to offer, and I think the national indigenous eco-
nomic strategy that I spoke about will be helpful to that exercise.

Mr. Patrick Weiler: Definitely. That kind of leads me to my
next question.

You mentioned all the different partners that are working togeth-
er on this national economic strategy. On that strategy, do you have
a few high-level points or recommendations that relate to the feder-
al government that you'd like to share with this committee at this
point?

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: A couple of recommendations
popped in my mind right now. One is the idea of having a right of
first refusal on the sale of any properties that the federal govern-
ment might be selling, so that the indigenous peoples have the op-
portunity to purchase those properties and be part of.... That would
open a door when we have those kinds of initiatives in place.

We talk about, as I mentioned, institutional development. I think
we need our own institution on procurement. Indigenous peoples
are already collaborating on a business plan for that so that we can
take over a lot of those services within the government and have a
certified database of indigenous businesses and help our businesses
to be able to compete more effectively for a lot of those procure-
ment opportunities.

We're talking about an education institute, so we could look at
the leading practices across the country on education and helping
our people to achieve higher education levels. We still have huge
gaps between our people and mainstream Canadians in terms of ed-
ucation levels.

We're also talking about some of the recommendations that I al-
ready provided. We do need that investment toward economic rec-
onciliation. There are over 100 calls to economic prosperity in this
strategy.

® (1435)

Mr. Patrick Weiler: Thank you for that.
For my next question, I'd like to turn to Mr. Davis.

You highlighted three main barriers that we should be looking at
here. The first one was looking at a solution really with federal
Crown corporations being able to provide access to loans at a rea-
sonable rate.

When you're thinking of this, are you thinking of existing Crown
corporations or the creation of new ones? If it is an existing corpo-
ration, I'm wondering if you have identified some of those ones that
we should be looking at.

Mr. Clint Davis: In particular, when I'm talking about access to
capital, yes, it would be in the form of loans, but it would be specif-
ically for equity.
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I just wanted to make a really quick comment on access to capi-
tal. In the past, we've seen challenges whereby there are too many
communities and development corporations. Even today, there are
still challenges for individual indigenous entrepreneurs having ac-
cess even to debt capital. That's why the AFIs that Dawn talked
about earlier are such a fundamental part of the ecosystem to sup-
port indigenous business, but they do still have caps. That's a huge
challenge.

I think there's a tremendous opportunity there, but not necessari-
ly for the creation of a new Crown corporation. The Business De-
velopment Bank of Canada is a perfect example. It has provided a
very robust indigenous banking unit, following along the lines of
what you see with TD Bank, Bank of Montreal, RBC and CIBC. I
think they've done a great job in terms of providing that debt capital
to communities and development corporations and even taking on
additional risk to support entrepreneurs.

Now, as we move into that bigger realm of having communities
looking at participating in large-scale projects or even medium-
scale projects, that kind of capital on the equity side is critical. This
isn't a brand new thing. This is something that has actually hap-
pened in another jurisdiction, namely in Ontario through the Green
Energy Act, which I thought was just an absolutely brilliant pro-
gram. It was the initiative on the part of the Government of Ontario
to ensure that it was going to have indigenous engagement with
green energy projects. It provided a guarantee to enable financial
institutions to lend equity for first nations and Métis to participate. |
think something like that would be an incredible opportunity.

Mr. Patrick Weiler: Thank you.
The Chair: We're going to the next person.

[Translation]

Ms. Gill, you have the floor for six minutes.
Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Kwe, utshimau Jourdain.

I'm pleased that all the participants here today can shed more
light on how to remove barriers to first nations economic develop-
ment.

Mr. Jourdain, I'm glad that you're here. I admire and appreciate
you. I was pleased to hear you speak about Indigenous People Inc.
You're an example of empowerment.

You spoke about the situation as it stood in 2014, when you ar-
rived, and the situation as it stands now. You have very concrete
and long-term experience with economic development. We rarely
hear from people who are really on the ground. We had ministers
here earlier, of course. That said, you're adding to our discussion to-
day.

You said that your speaking time was too short. I would have
liked you to elaborate on the issues that concern the federal govern-
ment. I'm thinking in particular of geographical remoteness, which
is a reality for the Atikamekw people, but also for the communities
in our area, on the north shore. You referred to the community of
Uashat, in Sept-iles, which makes up 15% of the city's population.
This figure keeps growing, obviously. We could also talk about the

community of Chisasibi. This is also the case in Abitibi. In short,
all communities are affected.

I'll let you talk about this issue, Mr. Jourdain.
® (1440)

Mr. Adam Jourdain: Tshinashkumitin, Mrs. Gill.

For any economic development project, whether it involves
building a gas station, homes or buildings, we are at a disadvantage
from the get-go—that's for sure. The costs of transportation and
materials are exponentially higher. From the outset, undertaking a
project in the community of Wemotaci or Chisasibi, or on the north
shore is more expensive than it would be in Montreal or Ottawa,
say. That is the reality.

I also mentioned the red tape. We have to submit application af-
ter application, and it's a very long time before we here back from
departments. It's a constant waiting game, so we miss out on in-
credible opportunities because we don't have all the tools we need.
We need funding support and programs to operate properly and car-
ry out construction projects, whether oriented towards economic
development or housing.

At the end of the day, we are dependent on the federal apparatus.
Is it possible to decentralize some of that authority? That is the
question we should be asking.

Down payments are another factor. In our community, people
practically live below the poverty line, even if they work for the
council. Someone talked about housing earlier. It's impossible for
people in Wemotaci to buy a home because the materials are unaf-
fordable. People can't afford to build a $250,000 home.

We need to think about things differently, and indigenous com-
munities have to be involved in the process, not just Ottawa. I al-
ways point to the fact that some indigenous communities are close
to urban centres, while others are quite remote. They are two com-
pletely different worlds. When the time comes to hand out funding,
that reality has to be understood and taken into account.

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Tshinashkumitin, Mr. Jourdain.

You pointed to the remoteness of communities, down payments
and red tape as barriers.

You also mentioned the mistrust financial institutions have to-
wards you. Can you tell us more about the challenges you face on
that front?

Mr. Adam Jourdain: As | explained earlier, for us, in We-
motaci, participation in the First Nations Fiscal Management Act
has meant that we are no longer subject to the Indian Act in relation
to financial matters. Financial institutions don't always recognize
that, however, whether it be credit unions or banks. The First Na-
tions Finance Authority, an indigenous body, is the only institution
to recognize that fact and to grant loans.



18 INAN-05

February 11, 2022

It's not uncommon for us to have interest rates of 6%, 7% or 8%.
It happens all the time to us, in Wemotaci, and it significantly ham-
pers our economic development projects. It's not necessarily a bar-
rier for projects that flow from band councils, but it is a major bar-
rier for private contractors. As I told you, people live below the
poverty line even when they work for the council. If they try to be-
come contractors, obtaining a loan from a financial institution is
very challenging. It's nearly impossible, so councils often have to
co-sign for people. It's a heavy administrative burden and it hinders
our development.

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Thank you, Mr. Jourdain.

You said that the government needs to rethink its approach to
economic development. Creating opportunities for contractors is al-
so important, so they don't have to go through the band council.
You made it clear that everything has to go through the band coun-
cil currently and that the red tape is significant. It's high time to
make the process more democratic, so to speak. There needs to be a
way to support independent contractors, just as they are supported
in non-indigenous communities. That can be done.

Do you or your corporation have any recommendations for us?
Given what you've experienced or what you're experiencing now,
what type of support do you need in the very near future?

® (1445)

The Chair: You have roughly 30 seconds to answer, Mr. Jour-
dain.

Mr. Adam Jourdain: The federal government should provide
programs tailored to the needs of each community, similar to what
Quebec does with the Indigenous Initiatives Fund III, which ear-
marks funding specifically for Wemotaci.

Is that something the federal government could do for every
community in Canada? It's worth exploring.

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Tshinashkumitin.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jourdain and Mrs. Gill.
[English]

The next speaker is Ms. Idlout.

Ms. Idlout, you have six minutes.
Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:)

sdreal® Ad%ar hALSY DN 0 Datbn D557, CLY
DNSonl®<r. AbL#DA*aD>N LS Datbbrak®Cireo.
oar dPA>d®0f, PeC-I¢ dAnodSL. Coa SbBALZINJC
AAASLLEPE,  0aShhPLIAC  Acndl DeCHege
all oSN AALPSDPLADLA  <SaA<-cdNeore
BeLHeGC  AcndhSA<ecdNEore  bIrNEN<Cec<Nore.
LPaC QAo AC o%JAACDS ShLLSSINS, Lo
ABC  DNDLYeAPY<NS  SEIPNNPLLot Cbdd
DPD>CHDTC IDBCPLASHHICHN LM AL ASINTLLC
ACSH>NA << oo C QLo d4<enenege
>Nab<cdN-oC, aoaAn<va®AShA  Chdd  LSP
>Sb>r AL CN>o [bhoC

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:]

Thank you, all of you.

Thank you for coming here to speak to us about your program. It
is very helpful to know more about your organization.

I will ask Nunasi Corporation, to your knowledge, what indige-
nous-led initiatives or businesses should be considered and includ-
ed in the planning, servicing and delivery of renewable energy
projects in the north, which is very critical for a green transition?
We need clean energy in the north because we lack infrastructure.
Can you talk about renewable energy projects in the north?

Mr. Clint Davis: I'm sorry, Ms. Idlout. I didn't get the English
translation on that for the question.

Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]

AobNDC ShesaNdsNC

>LedL?

Db <Pb*o G o> L.

[Inuktitut text interpreted as follows:)

I will try again in Inuktitut.
The Chair: Mr. Davis, did you get the question from Ms. Idlout?

Mr. Clint Davis: No, I'm sorry. I'm not tapping into the transla-
tion. I apologize.

The Chair: Okay.

Ms. Idlout, we'll go over to you.

Ms. Lori Idlout: Okay, I'll ask my question in English.

I have one question with two different topic areas. One will be
renewable energy and the other one will be telecommunications in-
frastructure development.

In these two areas, to your knowledge, what indigenous-led ini-
tiatives or businesses should be considered and included in plan-
ning, servicing and delivery in the north based on the critical need
to transition to green energy?

Mr. Clint Davis: Nakurmiik for the question. I apologize on the
missed interpretation there, and I appreciate the follow-up.

Very quickly, I think that, when we talk about the transition to
green that is happening within this country, the reality of Nunavut
and the reality of Inuit Nunangat are probably not necessarily fully
considered. We have, obviously, very different construction time
frames, very different climate realities, very different geography
and so on, but that doesn't mean to say that we should not be given
that opportunity to participate in renewable energy. Some of that
activity has been taking place right now.
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The Government of Canada has provided some reasonably de-
cent approaches through NRCan on what to do in terms of some
funding support for capacity building and so on to try to support the
development of green energy. In many cases like this, Ms. Idlout,
what you will see is a rash of applications coming into a program
and all of us trying to fit within a certain deadline, again not neces-
sarily considering the reality of the north.

I think what would be incredible would be to see the federal gov-
ernment pull together its current dollars around green energy as it
pertains to the north and have a fund that has a high level of flexi-
bility that would enable indigenous organizations and Inuit organi-
zations to be able to apply. The fund should have a much longer
time frame to ensure that those dollars go to fundamental projects
that can really be successful.

® (1450)
Ms. Lori Idlout: Thank you so much.

I have a follow-up question for all three witnesses. I am wonder-
ing if you're all aware of the Canada Infrastructure Bank Act. This
morning I was at a press release with my fellow MP Niki Ashton ,
who is proposing amendments to that act. I wonder if you could
just quickly say yes or no to that question.

The Chair: Perhaps we could start with Nunasi.

Mr. Clint Davis: Sorry, what was the nature of the amendment
to the act, Ms. Idlout?

Ms. Lori Idlout: Just if you're aware of the Canada Infrastruc-
ture Bank Act?

Mr. Clint Davis: Yes, very much so, and very much aware of the
activity that it's doing with indigenous communities across the
country. Yes.

The Chair: Did you want Nikanik also to respond, Ms. Idlout?
Ms. Lori Idlout: Yes, please.

[Translation]
The Chair: Go ahead, Mr. Jourdain.

Mr. Adam Jourdain: I don't think I'm familiar with that pro-
gram. We are a small Atikamekw community, but I would like to
get some information in order to find out more about it.

[English]
The Chair: Ms. Madahbee Leach, did you want to answer that
question?

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: Yes, I am familiar with that as
well. Moving forward one of the things, as I mentioned, we plan to
see, and hope for support for, is a national indigenous infrastructure
institute that would work closely under this act and help with im-
plementation with respect to indigenous peoples.

The Chair: That's your time, Ms. Idlout.
We'll start the second round.

I understand, Mr. Schmale, that you've agreed to let Mr.
Powlowski go first because he has an airplane to catch. Is that cor-
rect?

Mr. Jamie Schmale: That is correct, on the caveat that we do
get our full time, that we're not cut off due to time.

The Chair: Yes. You won't be cut off.
Mr. Jamie Schmale: Thank you.
The Chair: Mr. Powlowski, you have five minutes.

Mr. Marcus Powlowski (Thunder Bay—Rainy River, Lib.):
Thank you. To the Conservatives, I really appreciate it.

I really did want to ask a question to Mr. Davis.

Do I have it right, you're from Labrador? If yes, which communi-
ty?

Mr. Clint Davis: Yes, I'm from Labrador. Happy Valley-Goose
Bay is where I was born, my mom is from Cartwright and my fa-
ther is from Rigolet, which is the Inuit community in Nunatsiavut.

Mr. Marcus Powlowski: I want to get down to a granular level,
because here we have lofty conversations, which is great, because
we are the parliamentary committee and we talk about leveraging
equity and procurement contracts and fiduciary duty, but for some-
one like me who is not an economist, sometimes it doesn't mean
that much.

I want to ask about Labrador generally. If you can apply it to
Nain, that would be great for me because I worked for three years
in Nain. I thought Nain was a fantastic community. I really love
Nain. I was a doctor there. But I know there wasn't a lot of econom-
ic prosperity in Nain. There wasn't a lot of business. There wasn't a
lot of employment.

As our colleague on this panel from northern Quebec has said,
the cost of everything up there is much higher. When I look at
Labrador and all your communities that are scattered along the
shore with no roads between them, and where the cost of every-
thing is really high, I wonder how they can and would economical-
ly prosper.

Could you bring together all the things you've said about eco-
nomic development and the barriers to economic development, and
tell me about it in Labrador, specifically, if possible, in northern
communities up at the top, Nain, Hopedale, Davis Inlet. What has
gone right, what hasn't gone right, and what are your hopes? If you
can't apply it up there, just tell me about the other communities in
Labrador.

Mr. Clint Davis: Thank you.

You can't get more granular than that to try to get right down at
the community level, so I appreciate the question.

As you can imagine, there are over 50 Inuit communities across
the country. All of them are isolated, except in the northern part of
the Northwest Territories. Virtually all of them are on diesel with
no access, for the most part—if you take out Tuktoyaktuk—or very
limited access to road infrastructure and so on.
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In terms of the business activity that we see for Inuit communi-
ties, it relies on whether there is going to be an application for fed-
eral contracts and federal procurement. In some instances there are,
when you take into account some of the larger centres of Inuit com-
munities across Inuit Nunangat, including Iqaluit, and even Nain,
for that matter, where you do have a federal presence. The fact that
we just won the north warning system contract is an example of be-
ing in the territory and the region and having that business opportu-
nity and business success.

The other piece that is pretty critical is that element of infrastruc-
ture and the need for critical infrastructure. Despite the fact that we
don't have roads that connect, we need that additional infrastructure
around deepwater ports, as well as airlines and necessary airstrips
to ensure that we have that flow of goods and services.

The Internet is becoming this ubiquitous thing around the world
that so many of us take for granted, but for Inuit Nunangat, it's not
a reality. Let's be honest, depending on the types of services or
goods that you provide through indigenous business, the Internet
can be critical. The pandemic demonstrated how this level of busi-
ness activity can take place virtually anywhere. We can be sitting in
our pajamas, ordering things and receiving them.

The fact that you don't have quality telecommunications and In-
ternet, as Ms. Idlout was talking about earlier, something like
that—even though it may sound a little lofty—would have a pro-
found impact on individual small businesses and even the develop-
ment of corporations in those particular regions.
® (1455)

Mr. Marcus Powlowski: It is probably impossible—

The Chair: You have about 20 seconds, Mr. Powlowski.

Mr. Marcus Powlowski: What is your number one ask economi-
cally for Labrador?

Mr. Clint Davis: Nunasi represents Nunavut, so I'm not neces-
sarily here with a number one ask for Labrador, but for Inuit
Nunangat, it's infrastructure. It's the critical investment in infras-
tructure, which so many Canadians take for granted.

Qujannamiik.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Davis.

Thank you, Mr. Powlowski.

It's now the Conservatives for five minutes. Please go ahead, Mr.
Shields.

Mr. Martin Shields (Bow River, CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair. [
appreciate that.

I appreciate the witnesses today.

Mr. Jourdain, you have thrown in the word “independence”.
When you talked about bureaucracy, was the funding you received
program-oriented?

[Translation]

Mr. Adam Jourdain: Yes, we received funding through federal
programming, in particular, for a major project. We were able to ac-
cess funding for a sawmill that cost $3 million.

It's important to understand something, though. The amount of
federal funding allocated to major projects in indigenous communi-
ties varies between $15 million and $20 million. There are more
than 200 indigenous communities across Canada, so it's incredibly
difficult to get a piece of that funding.

In the case of a project worth $10 million or $12 million, that's a
lot of money. We don't have everything we need in our favour to be
successful and obtain the necessary funding. That is why it's so im-
portant to help communities, not only by giving them financial sup-
port, but also by improving access to programs.

[English]

Mr. Martin Shields: I needed to clarify, and you've answered
that it's grants that we're talking about.

Ms. Leach, have you submitted the reports that you mentioned to
the committee?

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: Not specifically, but they can be
made available to the committee.

We talked about providing a summary of the national indigenous
economic strategy that's soon to be released, so we'd be happy to
provide some of those reports.

Mr. Martin Shields: Please do.

When you talk about the 10% federal indigenous spending, are
you talking about grant funding?

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: There is a variety of programs
and services, for sure, but when you look at the level of indigenous
spending on economic development in the whole federal govern-
ment, it's a small percentage right now. I've heard of numbers be-
tween 2% and 4% of the total federal government spend on indige-
nous economic development.

® (1500)

Mr. Martin Shields: Are you asking for it to be 10% that you
apply for by grants? That's what I'm asking.

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: I see. I think that some of it can
be in the form of loans. We currently deliver loan programs for in-
digenous businesses through the aboriginal financial institutions
network, but there's also a need, of course, for grant programs—a
combination.

Mr. Martin Shields: That's with the understanding that grants
mean that you apply year by year and then they're basically funded
on the application that you compete with, as Mr. Jourdain said.

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: There are longer-term projects.

We need a new fiscal arrangement in Canada. Again, I want to
emphasize how important it is for indigenous institutions to be in-
volved in the delivery of these programs going forward.
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Mr. Martin Shields: I got that, but you understand where I'm
going here.

Mr. Davis, for what you are talking about in the sense of fi-
nances, are we talking about grant funding?

Mr. Clint Davis: No.

In terms of the recommendations I provided, I wasn't necessarily
talking about grant funding. I was talking about—

Mr. Martin Shields: I know you didn't, but I'm asking you in the
sense of what you're receiving now from the federal government.
Are you receiving and applying for grant funding?

Mr. Clint Davis: As Nunasi Corporation?

Mr. Martin Shields: As whatever you're involved with.

Mr. Clint Davis: Okay. It's an interesting question.

Yes, we've applied for grant funding in the past. We've applied in
the SREP program for renewable energy for Nunavut to see if we
can actually help to spur some development opportunities in the ter-
ritory. We've received federal support under COVID just like any
other business across the country, so that's—

Mr. Martin Shields: I got that part, but if we're talking about in-
dependence and you're talking about financial...and you making the
decisions, we've heard from several indigenous witnesses saying
grant funding does not work for independence. For decisions being
made by indigenous people, they need to receive the funds and
make the decisions—not accessing them on a rotating grant basis or
fighting with others for them.

I'm going to quickly go back to Madame Leach.

Would you prefer block funding with no strings attached for that
10%?

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: Yes. As I mentioned, I think we
have the capacity now to deliver our own programming.

A new fiscal arrangement is really critical with respect to indige-
nous programming.

Mr. Martin Shields: Thank you to the witnesses.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Shields.

[Translation]

We now go to Mrs. Gill for two and a half minutes.
Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I have a question for Utshimau Jourdain.

In your opening statement, you mentioned a number of barriers,
and you talked about bias. That really struck me. You said that
deep-rooted bias was hurting the economic development of first na-
tions.

I'd like you to elaborate on that. Could you give us examples of
situations that you or people you know have experienced?

Mr. Adam Jourdain: That's a good question.

When I arrived, in 2014, economic development in the commu-

nity of Wemotaci was at its lowest level, so we decided to do some-
thing about it. The bias against our community was hurting our

ability to get projects off the ground. When we put forward our first
projects, we would get laughed at during our presentations, even
though the projects were well-thought-out and supported by busi-
ness plans prepared by experts and reviewed by us. It was a very
tough time.

Over the years, we gained credibility with federal and provincial
institutions, and even financial institutions. Now, when we propose
projects, we are taken seriously. We are professional in what we do,
and we put together high-quality documentation.

Regardless, bias and fears persist. That's clear even from the in-
terest rates financial institutions offer us. There is still some trepi-
dation, even when the project is sound.

Here's the question: what happens when a non-Indigenous person
and an indigenous person bring forward the same project? Are they
treated the same? The two realities are entirely different. Let's tell it
like it is.

® (1505)

Mrs. Mariléne Gill: Thank you for saying so. There are two sets
of rules.

Are there things the government can do to reduce, if not elimi-
nate, that deep-rooted bias? Of course, we all want to see it wiped
out.

Now that Wemotaci is leading by example, other communities
may wish to do the same.

How can the government help in that regard? Talk a bit about
that, if you would.

Mr. Adam Jourdain: Bands are governed by rules, but the Indi-
an Act is a major barrier. I think Mr. Davis and Ms. Madah-
bee Leach will agree with me on this. The Indian Act is a huge bar-
rier to communities' economic development.

I would also say that the natural resource development happen-
ing all over the country, regardless of the region, is inequitable. We
don't necessarily have a seat at the table when it comes to resource
development. We'd like to be able to develop forest resources or
take advantage of wind and water resources, but that's very diffi-
cult. The programs that exist prevent us from following our dreams.
For example, I would love for us to have four or five dams that we
could manage ourselves.

We have to look to the future, and to do that, we need to work
together and advance the dialogue, as we are doing today. I feel
good about the future.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Jourdain.
[English]
Ms. Idlout, you have two and a half minutes.

Ms. Lori Idlout: [Member spoke in Inuktitut as follows:]
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sdoeal® IAAZA%an DL Coa Lls<dse, We're past our three o'clock deadline. Let me ask you this. I'm

ASINSELS 0 Palbbbdb, Ca  bIPM<PNlodSbd.  CL“  prepared to finish out this second round, which would be five min-

PDL%vasLalr. Cdd LelS<d® PaD>dAYL  ASINE<S0C  utes for Conservatives and five minutes for Liberals.

DAL ghl sy, AxJegee<le, bos , _

D 5% CPNShOD>PAL? Mr. Schmale, did you want the next five minutes?

[[nuktitut text interpreted as follows:]
Thank you.

I asked you all if you know about the Canada Infrastructure Bank
Act. Have you ever had experience with it? What barriers did you
encounter when you tried to access it?

[English]

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: One of the things is that, usually,
indigenous communities are at a disadvantage in competing with
mainstream projects. That's always been an issue with respect to the
infrastructure financing that's been available through the govern-
ment.

I have to come back to the fact that I really believe that we need
our own infrastructure institutes and resources to enable indigenous
people to address a lot of the infrastructure issues such as Mr. Jour-
dain has just mentioned, for example, to participate in some of
these electrification projects. There's the idea of the water and the
lands, and also the air when we talk about the telecommunications
spectrum. Why can't our indigenous communities benefit from
some of that in our traditional territories?

We're definitely at a disadvantage when we have to compete with
the mainstream in terms of infrastructure financing. That's my fa-
miliarization with that.

Mr. Clint Davis: I completely agree with Dawn's assessment
that we are at a disadvantage, although I said in my comments that
indigenous businesses look very differently now compared to how
they did just 20 years ago. We've built remarkable capacity, as
Dawn referenced a number of times in some of her answers, and
having institutions that are very focused on indigenous communi-
ties and will help to build that level of capacity is important. We are
definitely at a bit of a disadvantage.

There is a need, for sure. The Infrastructure Bank plays a signifi-
cant role in ensuring that we get capital into communities. I've said
time and time again, as well, that we need to see some private sec-
tor capital that would see the value in investing in some of these
communities as well. There's a huge potential there for the Arctic,
and there's a role for Nunasi to play in something like that.

Nakurmiik.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Ms. Idlout.

® (1510)
Mr. Jamie Schmale: No, I'm okay. Thank you, sir.
The Chair: Okay.

[Translation]

Thank you to all the witnesses who were with us today. We cer-
tainly appreciate it. You gave us excellent information in response
to our questions.

[English]

For committee members, I look forward to seeing all of you on
Tuesday, February 15 at 3:30 p.m. for our next meeting.

For those of you who will be in the subcommittee meeting that's
going to take place now, we'll adjourn this proceeding and rejoin
the subcommittee members very shortly.

Thank you very much.

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: Is there a possibility just to state
one other item?

The Chair: Yes, please go ahead.

Ms. Dawn Madahbee Leach: I really want to remind this com-
mittee that Canada's future is linked to building indigenous capaci-
ty, to become engaged in the economy, because sustainable devel-
opment in Canada requires our involvement, mitigating climate
change requires our involvement, opening the doors to international
trade requires our involvement, addressing the labour shortages in
Canada requires our involvement, reducing social spending with a
focus on increasing economic productivity requires our involve-
ment, and providing access to basic services throughout Canada's
remote and rural areas requires our involvement. Finally, improving
Canada's global standing on human rights issues requires our in-
volvement.

That is important for this committee to remember, and the only
way to do that is through indigenous economic development.

Thank you. Meegwetch.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Ms. Madahbee Leach. That is
a very good reminder to all of us.

We will now adjourn this meeting.
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